1999

# West Valley City v. Jasbir Singh Bhatia : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

Jurisdiction is conferred under Utah R. App. P. 3, and this Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 78-2a-3(2)(e) (Supp. 1997) inasmuch as the issues presented to this Court on appeal arise from a criminal conviction from a court of record which is not a first degree felony or capital felony.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

ISSUE 1: Did Bhatia receive ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsel's failure to object during the trial?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

ISSUE 2: Did Bhatia receive ineffective assistance of counsel based on cumulative error?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

ISSUE 3: Did Bhatia receive ineffective assistance of counsel for the failure of counsel to request a psychiatric evaluation of Bhatia?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

ISSUE 4: Did Bhatia receive ineffective assistance of counsel when counsel entered into stipulations without his client's consent which stipulations went specifically to the elements the State had to prove for conviction?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

ISSUE 5: Did Bhatia receive ineffective assistance of counsel in the manner in which counsel prepared for trial?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

ISSUE 6: Did Bhatia receive ineffective assistance of counsel for counsel to fail to make an opening argument prior to the commencement of Bhatia's case?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

ISSUE 7: Was it plain error to permit witnesses to testify as to legal conclusions?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

ISSUE 8: Did the prosecutor engage in prosecutorial misconduct during the trial?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

ISSUE 9: Did the Court err as a matter of law by denying the motion filed by Bhatia based on a single criminal episode?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is that the legal conclusions of the court are reviewed for correctness without any deference thereto. State v. Brooks, 908



P.2d 856 (Utah 1995).

### **DETERMINATIVE LAW ON APPEAL**

The following constitutional provisions, statutes, rules, regulations and cases are believed to be the determinative law of this Appeal and are attached in full in the addendum hereto: (1) United States Constitution Amendment VI; (2) Utah State Constitution Article I, Section 10 and 12; (3) Strickland v. Washington

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

1. Jasbir Bhatia (hereinafter "Bhatia") was charged by information with three counts of distribution of pornographic material, pursuant to Section 76-10-1204, Utah Code Annotated.

2. A trial was set in this matter before a jury on February 17, 1999. See Trial Transcript (hereinafter referred to as "TT"), cover page.

3. Prior to the trial, various stipulations were entered into including:

- a. that an edited video was representative of the contents of all of the videos upon which the charges were based (TT, P. 97, L. 20-21);
- b. that only evidence concerning the three charges based on the sale of videos on April 19, 1998 and April 24, 1998 before the Court that day would be admissible (TT, P. 6, L. 11-14).

4. A motion to consolidate other pending cases was made, but denied by the Court. TT, P 5, L. 9-17.

5. Bhatia had an interpreter present during the trial.
6. Following jury selection and some comments by the Court, the prosecutor made his opening statement. TT, P. 91-106.
7. During his opening arguments, the prosecutor told the jury that "unfortunately, you have to or get to view three videos. TT. P. 91, L. 16-17. No objection was lodged by defense counsel.
8. Despite the stipulation that the only admissible evidence which would be presented to the Court was the events on the dates of the purchases, the prosecutor in opening argument told the jury that the witnesses would tell them that prior to these incidents, "Bhatia was warned about selling pornographic videos. . . ." TT. P. 93, L. 4-5. No objection was lodged.
9. During opening argument, the prosecutor informed the jury that the videos were "obviously pornographic." TT. P. 97, L. 3. No objection was lodged.
10. When discussing the edited video which the jury would see, the prosecutor informed the jury "that's ten hours of pornography you'd be sitting through and we're not sure you could drive home after something like that." TT. P. 97 L. 22 to P. 98 L. 1. No objection was lodged.
11. During his opening argument, the prosecutor stated, "I would like to tell you that it's just as simple as the City proving that this stuff makes you stick to your stomach. . . ." TT. P. 102, L. 15-17. No objection was lodged.
12. Bhatia's counsel reserved his opening statement to prior to the commencement

of the Defense case. TT, P. 106, L. 21 to P. 107, L. 11.

13. During the trial, Bhatia's counsel made a motion pursuant to the doctrine of a single criminal episode which was denied by the Court. TT, P. 167 L. 23 to P. 168 L. 8.

14. After the trial was over, the jury was instructed and recessed to deliberate.

15. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all three counts. TT, P. 225 L. 23 to P. 226 L. 8.

**B. FACTUAL HISTORY RELEVANT TO APPEAL**

1. Bhatia operates a booth at the Redwood Swap Meet. TT, P. 109, L 4-5.

2. At the trial, West Valley City Detective Kory Newbold (hereinafter "Newbold") testified that some time in or about December, 1997 he was at the Redwood Swap Meet checking business licenses. At that time, he believed Bhatia had videos which were pornography. Newbold seized 49 videos but no charges were filed. TT, P. 110 L. 8 through P. 114 L. 4.

3. In April, 1998, Newbold was again at the swap meet this time with Detective Evans. TT. P. 114 L. 5-12.

4. Newbold observed Evans purchasing some videos from Bhatia. TT. P. 117 L. 12 to P. 118 L. 8.

5. Newbold testified that he watched the videos and testified, "Once I viewed the tape and felt that the contents was of a pornographic or harmful material, I began an investigation . . . ." TT, P. 119, L. 23-25.

6. Five days following the purchase of the videos at the swap meet, Newbold

testified that Evans called Bhatia at his residence in order to arrange to buy more videos. TT. P. 120, L. 2-13.

7. Newbold testified that he and Evans went to Bhatia's residence where Newbold remained in a surveillance van. TT. P. 121, L. 5-11.

8. Evans went into the house and carried a sack out with him the contents of which were inspected by Newbold which he found contained three videos, "two of them appeared to be pornographic and then the third one, just from viewing it, didn't appear to be pornographic." TT. P. 121 L. 15 to P. 122 L. 3.

9. Newbold testified that he was not able to find a story line in the videos. TT. P. 125 L. 11-14.

10. On direct examination, the Prosecutor asked Newbold, "Okay, now the gentleman that you've referred to as Mr. Jasbir Bhatia, is that--is this Mr. Bhatia seated next to me, with the kind of green sweatshirt on?" TT. P. 109, L. 20-22. No objection was lodged.

11. Following Newbold's testimony, an unidentified individual entered the courtroom. Counsel for Bhatia stated, "Your honor, can I have--is there a possibility I can have three to five minutes? I need to talk to my client, sorry to do this in the middle of the City's case in chief, but apparently there is an issue, a potential witness that's just stepped in and may be a witness for the defense. I'm not quite sure what he has to say, if I could have just a minute, I don't think there's any--." TT. P. 127 L. 23 to P. 128 L. 5.

12. At no time did counsel for Bhatia invoke the witness exclusionary rule.

13. Detective Chad Evans was called to testify. TT. P. 130.
14. Evans testified that on April 19, 1998, he was working at the swap meet. TT. P. 131, L. 8-10.
15. Evans testified that Bhatia offered to sell him "full version" videos. TT. P. 132, L. 19.
16. Evans testified that Bhatia took him to the back of his booth and produced two videos. TT. P. 133, L. 2-5.
17. Evans did not have the money to purchase the videos but stated that he would return, which he did and purchased one video. TT. P. 134, L. 14-25.
18. Evans asked Bhatia if he could purchase more videos and was told yes. TT. P. 135 L. 7-13.
19. On or about April 24, 1998, Evans called Bhatia to inquire about purchasing more videos. TT. P. 138 L. 1-4.
20. On direct examination, the prosecutor asked Evans, "Okay. And again, just for housekeeping purposes, the Mr. Bhatia and Jessie that we've been referring to is the gentleman over here with the green sweater on?" No objection was lodged. Evans affirmed that it was. TT. P. 138 L. 23 to P. 139 L. 2.
21. Evans went to Bhatia's residence. TT. P. 140 L. 1-3.
22. Evans purchased three videos from Bhatia. TT. P. 142 L. 6 to P. 143 L. 18.
23. On both cross and direct examination, Evans was questioned about matters and events which did not occur on either April 19 or April 24, 1998 contrary to the earlier

stipulation. TT. P. 148 L. 12 to P. 150 L. 21. No objections were lodged.

24. After Evans testified, the prosecution rested other than showing the jury an edited version of the purchased tapes. TT. P. 151 L. 5-7.

25. Prior to showing the tape, the prosecutor made several comments:

- a. "I'm not sure exactly how to delicately do that. I've been informed by the people that are with me that they'd prefer not to sit through this, so they will exit the courtroom." TT, P. 151, Line 12-15;
- b. "I've also been informed by the interpreter that she has some concerns, based upon her religion and her culture, that she not be present during it." TT, P. 151, L. 17-20.

26. Following the showing of part of the tapes but not their entirety, Bhatia's counsel stipulated that the portion shown to the jury was representative of the entirety of the videos. TT. P. 160 L. 9-16.

27. At the commencement of the defense case, counsel failed to make his reserved opening argument. TT. P. 169.

28. Bhatia was called as witness. TT. P. 169.

29. On cross examination, the prosecutor stated "let's see. Didn't you sell videos in January, 1998? Weren't they pornographic and the officers took your videos?" TT. P. 173 L. 20-22. No objection was lodged.

30. On cross examination, when the prosecutor was asking questions faster than they could be interpreted, the following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: Mr. Stoney, let it be interpreted. I want us to follow the process--

MR. STONEY: Okay.

THE COURT: --that the attorney ask the question, you interpret it.

THE INTERPRETER: Right.

THE COURT: Even if you understand part of it, wait until it's interpreted and answer in your native language.

MR. STONEY: Your Honor, this is a sham. He understands every word I'm saying.

TT. P. 174 L. 11-22.

31. On cross examination, the prosecutor asked **Bhatia** concerning Evans calling him, whether Bhatia invited Evans to his residence, and "For the purpose of buying pornography?" TT. 176 L. 3.

32. Finally, Bhatia's counsel objected to the use of the term "pornography" by the prosecutor, stating that was "the whole issue here." TT. P. 176 L. 4-7.

33. The Court sustained the objection, instructing the prosecutor to refer to the tapes as "videos." TT. P. 176 L. 8-9.

34. In closing argument, the prosecutor stated, " It's kind of interesting here that you didn't hear a defense when he took the stand. . . ." TT. P. 212 L. 18-19. No objection was lodged.

35. In closing, the prosecutor said, "We owe a great thanks to Mr. Rammell, he's been a great gentleman here today and he did stipulate to not have us watch ten house of pornography, so we owe him a thanks for that." TT. P. 214, L. 8-12.

36. In closing, Bhatia's counsel stated he was able to stipulate that the video was representative because it was unnecessary for the jury to watch ten hours of it." TT. P. 216 L. 20-25.

37. In closing, when reciting the elements the prosecution has to prove, Bhatia's counsel told the jury to disregard the element of "serious literary, artistic, political or scientific value" stating "Disregard No. 3, because we don't know that it does not contain and I do not profess that it does and I would be a hypocrite if I said that. . . ." TT. P. 217 L. 18-21.

38. After deliberation, the jury returned guilty verdicts on all three counts.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Bhatia received ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsel's failure to object during the trial. There was no legitimate trial strategy which supported this failure to object. Bhatia receive ineffective assistance of counsel based on cumulative error. Bhatia believes that he was prejudiced in each instance by ineffective counsel but even if he was not prejudiced by each individual incident of ineffective assistance of counsel the cumulative effect of such conduct deprived him of a fair trial. Bhatia received ineffective assistance of counsel for the failure of counsel to request a psychiatric evaluation of Bhatia. The evidence was clear that Bhatia was irrational to the point of requesting the Court not set hearings on Thursdays for allegedly religious reasons. Bhatia received ineffective assistance of counsel when counsel entered into stipulations without his client's consent which stipulations went specifically to the elements the State had to prove for conviction. Bhatia



was clearly prejudiced by such a stipulation entered into without his consent. Bhatia received ineffective assistance of counsel in the manner in which counsel prepared for trial. Counsel even went so far as to acknowledge to the Court that a witness came into the Court room the subject of his testimony was unknown to counsel. Bhatia received ineffective assistance of counsel for counsel to fail to make an opening argument prior to the commencement of Bhatia's case. Counsel's failure prejudiced Bhatia by not alerting the jury to his defense prior to its presentation.

Bhatia believes that plain error was committed when the Court permitted witnesses to testify of legal conclusions which were the ultimate issue to be determined by the trier of fact. Bhatia believes the prosecutor continually made improper prejudicial comments throughout the trial. Bhatia believes that it was error to permit the prosecutor to lead witnesses thereby suggesting the answer to identifications of Bhatia. Bhatia believes the Court err as a matter of law by denying the motion filed by Bhatia based on a single criminal episode and in permitting cross examination which was substantially beyond the scope of direct examination.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. BHATIA RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BASED ON COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT DURING THE TRIAL.**

Bhatia received ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsel's failure to object during the trial. The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

Generally speaking, a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel may not be brought to the attention of the Court of Appeals on a direct appeal, usual "unusual . . . narrow circumstances exist." State v. Vessey, 967 P.2d 960, 964 (Utah App. 1998)[citations omitted]. Such unusual circumstances exist when "there is new counsel on appeal and there is an adequate trial record" for the Court of Appeals to review the allegations. Id. The present case fits the unusual narrow circumstances exception which should permit this Court to review the ineffective assistance of counsel issues on direct appeal.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant "must first show that his trial counsel's performance was deficient, in that it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." State v. Finlayson, 956 P.2d 283 (Utah App. 1998) citing to State v. Winward, 941 P.2d 627, 635 (Utah App. 1997)(quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-688, 693, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2052, 2064, 2067, 80 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). "Once that is established, defendant must show that "there is a reasonable probability that the result would have been different absent the deficient performance." Id. A "reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id.

Bhatia believes that he received ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsel's failure to object throughout the proceedings. First, Bhatia believes that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness with respect to objecting to inadmissible matters throughout the course of the trial. Counsel permitted testimony regarding events which were outside the scope of the stipulation concerning admissible evidence. TT, P. 93, L 4-5. Counsel permitted the prosecutor to make inflammatory comments in opening argument, during the trial and in closing argument calculated to influence the juries mind concerning the nature of the evidence which they would be presented. TT. P.91 L. 16-17; P. 97 L. 22 to P. 98 L. 1; TT. P. 102, L. 15-17; TT. P. 151

L. 12-15, 17-20. Counsel permitted the prosecutor to continually characterize and refer to the videos as "pornography." TT. P. 97 L. 3; P. 97 L. 22 to P. 98 L. 1; P. 173 L. 20-22. Counsel permitted witnesses to testify to matters which were beyond the stipulated admissibility dates. TT. P. 110 L. 8 through P. 114 L. 4. Counsel permitted the prosecutor to elicit legal conclusions from prosecution witnesses. TT. P. 119 L. 23-25; P. 121 L. 5 to P. 122 L. 3. Counsel permitted the prosecutor to lead witnesses on direct examination resulting in direct identification of Bhatia. TT. P. 109 L. 20-22 and P. 138 L. 23 to P. 139 L. 2. Finally, Bhatia's counsel permitted the prosecutor to be argumentative concerning the right of Bhatia to an interpreter merely because the prosecutor was frustrated with the pace of the questioning. TT. P. 174 L. 11-22. Based on the foregoing, Bhatia clearly believes that trial counsel's conduct fell well below an objective standard of reasonableness.

Bhatia believes that he was prejudiced by the failure of his counsel to object. Specifically, Bhatia believes that he was prejudiced by the failure to object to evidence beyond the stipulation date. Specifically, one of the elements of the charged crimes was intent. On closing argument, the prosecutor used the fact that videos had been confiscated from Bhatia on a date which was outside the scope of the stipulation of admissibility to argue proof of intent. TT. P. 212 L. 12-17. The continual reference to the videos as pornographic implied to the jury the very finding of fact they were to determine. While eliciting testimony concerning the ultimate issue is permissible under Rule 704 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, "questions which would merely allow a witness to tell the jury what result to reach are not permitted." State v. Tenney, 913 P.2d 750 (Utah App. 1996)(stating that permitting such questions is "plain error" even if no objection is lodged). All of the foregoing was prejudicial to Bhatia and constitutes plain error to the

degree that no objection was lodged. Moreover, the prejudice to Bhatia is sufficiently clear that the failure to object throughout the proceedings and the impact thereon must undermine the confidence this Court has in the outcome of the proceeding.

## **II. BHATIA RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BASED ON CUMULATIVE ERROR.**

Bhatia received ineffective assistance of counsel based on cumulative error. The standard of review is whether the trial court committed plain error. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996). Because most of the allegations as set forth herein were not objected to at trial, a plain error standard applies. Plain error has three elements which are (1) error; (2) obviousness; and (3) prejudice. State v. Tenney, 913 P.2d 750 (Utah App. 1996). Assuming arguendo, that while it is possible that any one single error as set forth herein and throughout this brief by itself may not rise to the level error, Bhatia believes that the cumulative effect of all of the errors is sufficient that together they must undermine this Court's confidence in the verdict. See State v. Palmer, 860 P.2d 339 (Utah App. 1993) and State v. Alonzo-Nolasco, 932 P.2d 606 (Utah App. 1997).

## **III. BHATIA RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR BASED ON THE FAILURE OF COUNSEL TO REQUEST A PSYCHIATRIC EVALUATION.**

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