1999

# West Valley City v. Jasbir Singh Bhatia : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Although the jury made their finding based upon actually viewing portions of the video tapes, there are certain portions of the testimony which also support their findings. For example, Officer Newbold testified that he personally viewed all four videotapes that the Police Department purchased from Bhatia. He testified that in the three videotapes which resulted in the filing of these charges, he was able to find no discernable story line and

that all three videotapes showed vaginal, anal, and oral sexual penetration, and showed males climaxing.

Based upon the content of the videotapes themselves, which were placed into evidence as prosecution Exhibits 1, 3, and 4, and upon the testimony of Officer Newbold, the jury found the videotapes content to meet the definition of "pornographic material." Other than his trial counsel's argument regarding the contemporary community standards, Bhatia essentially had no defense to the factual evidence contained in the videotapes themselves.

The evidence upon which the jury found Bhatia guilty of distributing pornographic material was overwhelming. Any perceived errors by his trial counsel in the conduct of the trial did not affect the core evidence presented by the City. The jury determined that the videotapes met the legal definition for pornographic material and it was undisputed that Bhatia intentionally sold the videotapes with full knowledge of their content. Bhatia has failed to meet the second prong of the *Strickland* test by showing that the alleged errors of his trial counsel would have affected the outcome of the trial.

## **II. A PROSECUTION WITNESS DID NOT IMPROPERLY TESTIFY TO LEGAL CONCLUSIONS.**

Bhatia's contention that a prosecution witness was permitted to testify as to legal conclusions is without support in the

record. Statements of the type that occurred in this case do not violate the evidentiary rules, nor did they prejudice the jury.

There are two statements in the transcript which are referred to by Bhatia as impermissible legal conclusions. In the first of these statements Officer Newbold was asked what he decided to do after viewing the first videotape that had been purchased. Officer Newbold's response was "Once I viewed the tape and felt that the contents was of a pornographic or harmful material, I began a--an investigation into the distribution of pornography from Jasbir Bhatia." Trial Transcript, PP. 119, 120. In the second statement Officer Newbold was asked what he viewed in the sack of items that Officer Evans had purchased at Bhatia's house. Officer Newbold replied "He had three video cassettes, two of them appeared to be pornographic material and then the third one just from viewing it, didn't appear to be pornographic." These statements by Officer Newbold were not made in violation of the rules.

The Utah Rules of Evidence provide that the testimony of a lay witness is limited to opinions and inferences which are rationally based on the witnesses perception and helpful to the fact finder to clearly understand the witnesses testimony or determine a fact in issue. Rule 701, Utah Rules of Evidence; *State v. Bryant*, 965 P.2d 539, 547. Rule 704, Utah Rules of Evidence specifically states that "testimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate

issue to be decided by the trier of fact." In *Bryant*, the court quotes *State v. Larsen*, 828 P.2d 487 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) which stated that "... the determination of whether [a witnesses] opinion embraces an ultimate factual issue or constitutes a legal conclusion is a difficult call...." However, the court determined that a witness may use a legal term when the testimony is factual and not a legal conclusion. *Bryant*, P.548.

In this case, Officer Newbold, a lay witness and not an expert, was not instructing the jury in the ultimate legal conclusion to be considered. Rather, Officer Newbold's statement was a factual statement which was based upon his perception and was necessary to clearly understand his testimony. In the first instance, his perception that the videotape was pornographic was part of his explanation as to why he began a criminal investigation. The second statement was made for a similar purpose. It merely conveyed to the jury his perception that the second and third videotapes were of a similar type to the first videotape that had initiated the investigation. As was described in both the *Bryant* and *Larsen* cases cited above, these types of statements are not prohibited by the Utah Rules of Evidence.

Finally, any possible prejudicial effect of these statements was cured by the jury instructions. Instruction No. 6 specifically stated that only the jury, applying the tests given by the court, can find the videotapes to be obscene or pornographic. Trial

Transcript P. 200. Instruction No. 7 describes the various common meanings and usages of terms used throughout the trial, such as "obscene", "obscenity", "pornography", or "pornographic". That instruction further instructs the jury to only use the definition provided them by the court and disregard the terms when used at other times or in other contexts. Trial Transcript, P. 200. Instruction No. 8 provides the jury with the legal definition of pornographic material found in Section 76-10-203, Utah Code Annotated.

Based on the forgoing, it is clear that Officer Newbold's use of the word pornographic was not in violation of the Utah Rules of Evidence, nor was the outcome of the trial affected in any manner.

**III. THE PROSECUTOR'S CONDUCT DURING THE TRIAL DID NOT CONSTITUTE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.**

Allegations of prosecutorial misconduct are analyzed under a two part test. First, Bhatia must show that the actions or remarks of the prosecutor called to the attention of the jury a matter which it would not be justified in considering and determining its verdict. Assuming the first prong of the test has been met, Bhatia then has the burden to show that the error by the prosecutor was so substantial and prejudicial that there is a reasonable likelihood that, in its absence, there would have been a more favorable result. *State v. Kohl*, 2000 UT 35 ¶22; 392 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (2000).

Bhatia argues that several statements made by the prosecutor were improper. This brief has already addressed three of the areas in which he makes' this claim. First, is the claim that the prosecutor elicited testimony in violation of the pre-trial stipulation. As was set forth above, this argument is based upon Bhatia's mischaracterization of that stipulation. A close reading of the stipulation reveals that testimony regarding videotapes which were confiscated from Bhatia on a previous date was not prohibited by the stipulation. The stipulation only prohibited evidence of other pending charges. There were no pending charges from the videotape confiscation incident.

Bhatia also argues that this evidence was inadmissible character evidence under Rule 404(b), Utah Rules of Evidence. This argument is also without merit. As Bhatia admits in his brief, "Specifically, in closing argument, the prosecutor argued that the facts the tapes had been confiscated from Bhatia prior to the dates of the incidents charged proved his intent." Appellant Brief, P.21. Demonstrating proof of intent was also the explanation given by the prosecutor in response to an objection to this line of questioning during trial. Trial Transcript, P.112. Rule 404(b) specifically states that evidence of other acts "...may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of ... intent...." Rule 404(b), Utah Rules of Evidence. The evidence elicited by the



prosecutor clearly falls within the "intent" exception to Rule 404(b) and was not improper.

The other two arguments that have been previously discussed regard legal conclusions elicited from prosecution witnesses and leading witnesses under direct examination. As was set forth above, these two arguments are not well founded. Officer Newbold's testimony did not contain legal conclusions but rather factual conclusions that clarified his testimony. The complaints regarding leading witnesses on direct examination were limited solely to identification of Bhatia by the police officers, something that was not at issue at trial.

Bhatia's next contention regarding prosecutorial misconduct is his allegation of inflammatory comments made by the prosecutor. He cites four comments in the record that he believes to be improper. In the first instance, the prosecutor states "This isn't going to be a case where you just decide the evidence from the witnesses on the stand; unfortunately, you have to or get to (inaudible) view three videos and I'll describe those to you in a minute and their contents is going to be questionable and that's going to be the decision that you are going to have to make, is, is that pornographic by the standards of our community." Bhatia's objection to this statement seems to be the prosecutors use of the word "unfortunately". However Bhatia fails to explain how the use of

this word in this instance can or will influence the outcome of the trial.

The second allegedly inflammatory comment that Bhatia takes issue with is the prosecutor's statement that after watching the entire ten hours of videos "We're not sure you can drive home after something like that." Again Bhatia fails to explain or show how this comment has affected the outcome of the trial.

The third allegedly inflammatory comment that Bhatia points to has been taken out of context. In his brief, Bhatia states "The prosecutor told the jury that the evidence would make them sick." Appellants Brief, P.21. This is a complete mis-characterization of the statement made by the prosecutor. The prosecutor's statement in it's entirety is as follows: "Now, I would love to tell you that it's just as simple as the City proving that this stuff makes you sick to your stomach, but it's not. The law requires specific things and the burden is upon the citizens of West Valley to prove that to you, that burden is to prove a three- prong test." The prosecutor then goes on to explain the three prongs of the "pornographic material" test. Trial Transcript, pp. 102-103. As a reading of the complete quote shows, the prosecutor did not tell them that the evidence would make them sick, to the contrary, he was telling them that even if the evidence made them sick, that is not enough. The statement was made in the context of explaining the three prongs that must be met in order for the City to carry

it's burden of proof in the case. This statement is not prosecutorial misconduct.

The final statement Bhatia believes to be inflammatory occurred immediately prior to the showing of the videos to the jury. At that time, the prosecutor informed the court that several people, including the interpreter, would prefer not to see the videos and would like to exit the courtroom. A discussion of the subject between the court and both counsel followed. Trial Transcript, pp. 151-153. Bhatia completely fails to explain why this statement constitutes prosecutorial misconduct or how this statement impacted the jury or affected the outcome of the trial.

The allegedly inflammatory statements about which Bhatia now complains are either mis-characterizations of the actual statements or do not meet the test set forth in the *Kohl* case. Allowing these statements was not plain error nor was it prosecutorial misconduct.

Bhatia also complains about the prosecutor's references to the videos as "pornography." However, these statements, if improper, were cured by the court's instruction. Instruction No. 7 specifically instructed the jury that the term "pornography" has various common meanings and usages and anticipates that the terms will be used during the trial. The instruction begins by stating: "Throughout this trial and during instruction and argument, the terms "obscene" or "obscenity" and "pornography" or "pornographic" have been used." Trial transcript, p. 200. The instruction told the

jury to only consider pornography to mean that which was defined by the court and to disregard the term at other times and in other contexts. Trial Transcript, P.200. The court then gave instruction No. 8 which was a detailed definition of a pornography. Trial Transcript, PP. 200-201. Even if the prosecutor's use of the word pornography is considered improper, Bhatia has not carried his burden of showing that the comments were so prejudicial as to defeat the mitigating effect of the courts instruction. *Kohl*, P.6, ¶24.

Finally, Bhatia raises the issue regarding prosecutor's statement that Bhatia's need for an interpreter was a "sham." Trial Transcript, P.174. The City concedes that this statement by the prosecutor was improper and calls into question Bhatia's credibility. However, he has not carried his burden to show that this statement affected the outcome of the trial.

Bhatia's credibility was not an issue. Bhatia admitted that he sold the videos to the police officers. Bhatia also admitted that he knew the content of the videotapes. If his testimony had been in conflict with the officers, for example if he had denied selling the videotapes, then his credibility would be at issue. However, given the circumstances, this error by the prosecutor is harmless.

Also, the second step of the prosecutorial misconduct test requires consideration of the circumstances of the case as a whole.

If proof of the defendant's guilt is strong, the challenged conduct by the prosecutor will not be presumed to be prejudicial. *State v. Longshaw*, 961 P.2d 925, 931. In this case, the evidence against Bhatia was overwhelming. Viewed in that light, this error by the prosecutor is not substantial and did not effect the outcome of the trial.

**IV. THE COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED SECTION 76-1-1204, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, IN DENYING BHATIA'S MOTION TO DISMISS ONE COUNT BECAUSE OF THE SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE RULE.**

Prior to trial, Bhatia moved the court for dismissal of one of the two counts of distributing pornography that arose from Officer Evans purchase of videotapes at Bhatia's house. Bhatia argued that the April 24<sup>th</sup> purchase by Evans constituted a single criminal episode and that he should not be charged with one count for each videotape purchased. The court took argument on this issue both prior to trial and following the City's case in chief. Trial Transcript PP. 9-13; PP. 161-168. Following argument, the trial court interpreted the language of Section 76-10-1204, Distributing Pornographic Material, to mean that each separate item distributed could constitute one count and, therefore, denied Bhatia's motion.

Utah courts have set forth certain standards when faced with an issue of statutory construction. First, the plain language of the statute should be examined. *State v. Fisher*, 972 P.2d 90, 97 (Utah Ct. App. 1998). Also, the statute should be interpreted in

order to give effect of the legislature's intent in light of the purposes the statute was meant to achieve. *State v. Perez*, 2000 UT App 65, ¶6.

In this case, Judge Boyden interpreted the plain language of Section 76-10-1204 to mean that each tape sold by Bhatia was a separate violation of the statute. Bhatia was charged under Subsection (1) of Section 76-10-1204. Among other things, Subsection (1) states that a person is guilty of distributing pornographic material when he knowingly "distributes or offers to distribute, exhibits or offers to exhibit any pornographic material to others." Subsection (2) of Section 76-10-1204 states "each distributing of pornographic material as defined in Subsection (1) is a separate offense.

Judge Boyden correctly determined that this specific provision in the statute made the distribution of each separate videotape a separate violation. Her analysis that the more specific language found in the Distributing Pornographic Material statute took precedent over the more general language of the Single Criminal Episode statutes, Section 76-1-401, 402, is a correct application of the Utah law of statutory construction. *State v. Vigil*, 842 P.2d 843, 845.

The plain language of the statute should prevail and Judge Boyden's decision to deny Bhatia's motion should be upheld.

### CONCLUSION

Bhatia's arguments on appeal are without merit. He argues ineffective assistance of counsel, yet failed to request a Rule 23B evidentiary hearing and has failed to provide this court with an evidentiary basis to support his claim. Bhatia's trial counsel asserted a vigorous defense on his behalf and his trial strategy decisions should be accorded great deference.

Bhatia's arguments that a lay witness testified to legal conclusions and that the prosecutor committed prosecutorial misconduct are also not well founded. The statements referred to by Bhatia are either taken out of context or constitute harmless error given the overwhelming evidence presented to the jury.

Finally, the trial judge's decision to deny Bhatia's motion to dismiss one count from Case No. 981104396 was correct. Judge Boyden's ruling that the specific provision in the Distributing Pornographic Materials statute takes precedence over the generic terms of the Single Criminal Episode Rule is based upon solid Utah law regarding statutory construction.

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